## PREPUBLICACIONES DEL DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICA APLICADA UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID MA-UCM 2013-09

# Critical and supercritical higher order parabolic problems in R^N

J. W. Cholewa and A. Rodriguez-Bernal

Julio-2013

http://www.mat.ucm.es/deptos/ma e-mail:matemática\_aplicada@mat.ucm.es

## CRITICAL AND SUPERCRITICAL HIGHER ORDER PARABOLIC PROBLEMS IN $\mathbb{R}^N$

JAN W. CHOLEWA<sup>1</sup> AND ANIBAL RODRIGUEZ-BERNAL<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Mathematics Silesian University 40-007 Katowice, Poland E-mail: jcholewa@ux2.math.us.edu.pl

<sup>2</sup>Departamento de Matemática Aplicada Universidad Complutense de Madrid 28040 Madrid, Spain and Instituto de Ciencias Matemáticas CSIC-UAM-UC3M-UCM E-mail: arober@mat.ucm.es

#### Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Approximate solutions and a priori estimates	7
2.1. Estimates up to time $t = 0$	8
2.2. Estimates away from zero	11
2.3. Existence, uniqueness and regularity of approximate solutions	12
3. Limit solutions	13
3.1. Smooth initial conditions	14
3.2. Initial conditions in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$	17
4. Semigroup of limit solutions in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a global attractor	19
5. Finite time existence and ill posed problems	25
5.1. Finite time existence	25
5.2. Ill posed supercritical problems	27
6. Final remarks	30
References	30

ABSTRACT. The article is devoted to the higher order parabolic problems in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with critical or supercritical nonlinearities. For "good"-signed nonlinearities we prove the problem is globally well posed and dissipative in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and there exists even a global attractor. On the other hand, for supercritical "bad"-signed nonlinearities we show the problem is ill posed.

Partially supported by Partially supported by Project MTM2012-31298, MEC and GR58/08 Grupo 920894, UCM, Spain.

Key words. Initial value problems for higher order parabolic equations, semilinear parabolic equations, critical exponents, asymptotic behavior of solutions, attractors.

Mathematical Subject Classification 2010: 35K30, 35K58, 35B33, 35B40, 35B41.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In this article we consider the Cauchy problem of the form

$$\begin{cases} u_t + \Delta^2 u = f(x, u), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where the nonlinear term is assumed to satisfy a certain critical or supercritical growth condition.

Critical exponents appear naturally when dealing with the well posedness of partial differential equations and they typically arise from Sobolev embeddings. These exponents describe, among others, the largest growth allowed for the nonlinear term in a given class of initial data. As such, critical exponents only account for growth of the nonlinear terms and not for its sign. Thus, they do not distinguish in general between "good" or "bad"-signed nonlinearities, e.g. for nonlinearities that for large values of u behave like  $\pm |u|^{\rho-1}u$ . However the sign of the nonlinear term is known to have a deep impact in the behavior of solutions of nonlinear problems.

For reaction diffusion equations

$$\begin{cases} u_t - \Delta u = f(x, u), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

and considering for example initial data in the "energy" space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , if  $|f(x,u)| \approx |u|^{\rho}$  for |u| large, local existence holds for  $\rho \leq 1 + \frac{4}{N-2}$ , see e.g. [2], while if  $f(x,u) \approx |u|^{\rho-1}u$  for |u| large, if  $\rho > 1 + \frac{4}{N-2}$  then (1.2) is ill posed, see [5]. Note that (1.2) has naturally associated the energy functional

$$E_{RD}(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u|^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(x, u),$$

where  $F(x, u) = \int_0^u f(x, s) \, ds$  and if  $|f(x, u)| \approx |u|^{\rho}$  for |u| large, then typically  $|F(x, u)| \approx |u|^{\rho+1}$  for |u| large. Thus the critical exponent  $\rho_c = 1 + \frac{4}{N-2}$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  arises naturally as the largest value of  $\rho$  such that  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \subset L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . For larger  $\rho$  the nonlinear term can not be controlled by the quadratic one.

On the other hand, it is known that when  $f(x, u) \approx -|u|^{\rho-1}u$  for |u| large, the Cauchy problem (1.2) is well posed and dissipative for any value of  $\rho$ , see [3]. A key point in the analysis of (1.2) in [3] is that, by the maximum principle, for any value of  $\rho$ , the solution of (1.2) becomes bounded in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Observe that (1.1) has also a natural energy

$$E(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(x, u).$$
(1.3)

As for (1.2), the critical exponent for (1.1),  $\rho_c = 1 + \frac{8}{N-4}$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , arises naturally as the largest value of  $\rho$  such that  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \subset L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . For supercritical nonlinearities, if  $\rho > \rho_c$  and if  $f(x, u) \approx -|u|^{\rho-1}u$  for |u| large, then (1.3) gives bounds on the solutions in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . However this is not enough to prove that the solutions exists for all times, which depends strongly in proving that the solution remains in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , see [13].

In particular, it was proved in [13, Proposition 3.3] that if  $u \in L^{\infty}((0,T), L^{s_0}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and

$$s_0 > \frac{N}{4}(\rho - 1) \tag{1.4}$$

then  $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}((\varepsilon,T),L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N))} \leq K(\varepsilon, \|u\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T),L^{s_0}(\mathbb{R}^N))})$  for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  small. But we can take  $s_0 = \rho + 1$  on (1.4) only if  $\rho$  is subcritical in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

For (1.2) the arguments in [3] and [5] mentioned above use in an essential way the maximum principle, which does not hold for fourth order equations since the kernel of the linear evolution operator changes sign, e.g. [21]. On the other hand, for the second order parabolic problems satisfying some general assumptions, by the Moser-Alikakos technique, [1], suitably weak estimate of the solutions actually implies the  $L^{\infty}$ -bound. Neither of these, nor other techniques of getting  $L^{\infty}$ -bound on the solutions (see e.g. [26, Theorem II.6.1]), are directly applicable to (1.1), due to the presence of the higher order terms in (1.1).

Hence, one of the motivations for this paper is to extend the results in [3] and [5] for (1.1). Problems like (1.1) drew lots of attention in the recent years; see e.g. [9, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 12, 13] and references therein. In particular in [12] local existence of solutions for (1.1) was discussed for several classes of initial data and up to critical nonlinear terms. Also, global existence and asymptotic behavior was studied in [13] for subcritical "good"-signed nonlinear terms. On the other hand [9, 15, 16, 17, 18] payed attention to global solutions of supercritical "bad"-signed nonlinear terms. For this additional restrictions on the size and behavior at infinity of the initial data are required.

In this paper our goals are twofold. For good signed nonlinear terms, we will extend some of the results in [13] to supercritical nonlinearities. For this, we assume that the nonlinear term in (1.1) is of the general form

$$f(x,u) = g(x) + m(x)u + f_0(x,u), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ u \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.5)

where

$$g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N). \tag{1.6}$$

and

$$m \in L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad r > \frac{N}{4}, r \ge 2$$

$$(1.7)$$

where the uniform space  $L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , for  $1 \leq r \leq \infty$ , is defined as

$$L_{U}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \stackrel{def}{=} \{ \phi \in L_{loc}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) : \|\phi\|_{L_{U}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}} \|\phi\|_{L^{r}(\{|x-y| \le 1\})} < \infty \},\$$

in particular  $L_U^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) := L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [4]). For  $f_0 : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  we require that

. .

$$f_0(x,0) = 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
 (1.8)

$$\left|\frac{\partial f_0}{\partial u}(x,u)\right| \le c(1+|u|^{\rho-1}), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ u \in \mathbb{R},\tag{1.9}$$

for some c > 0 and  $\rho > 1$  such that

$$\rho \ge \frac{N+4}{N-4} = 1 + \frac{8}{N-4} \quad \text{and} \quad N \ge 5.$$
(1.10)

and

$$\frac{\partial f_0}{\partial u}(x, u)$$
 is locally Lipschitz in  $u \in \mathbb{R}$  uniformly for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . (1.11)

We finally assume the structure condition

$$uf(x,u) \le C(x)u^2 + D(x)|u| - a_{\rho}|u|^{\rho+1}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ u \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.12)

where

$$C \in L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N), \ r > \frac{N}{4},$$
  
$$0 \le D \in L^s(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad \frac{2N}{N+4} \le s \le 2,$$
  
(1.13)

 $a_{\rho}$  is a strictly positive constant for  $\rho > \frac{N+4}{N-4}$  and  $a_{\rho} = 0$  for  $\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$ 

and

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(x,u) \le L(x) \quad \text{for some} \quad L \in L_U^{\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^N), \ \sigma > \frac{N}{4}. \tag{1.14}$$

Note that (1.14) implies (1.12) with  $a_{\rho} = 0$  since

$$uf(x,u) = u(f(x,u) - f(x,0)) + uf(x,0) \le L(x)u^2 + |g(x)||u| \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ u \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Also the following stronger assumption implies both (1.14) and (1.12)

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(x,u) \le L(x) - a_{\rho}|u|^{\rho-1} \tag{1.15}$$

for some  $L \in L^{\sigma}_U(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $\sigma > \frac{N}{4}$ . This applies to logistic type maps, like

$$f(x, u) = g(x) + m(x)u - n(x)|u|^{\rho-1}u, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, u \in \mathbb{R},$$

with  $n(x) \ge n_0 > 0$  for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

With these assumptions we then show that the problem (1.1) is globally well posed in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Theorem 1.1.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14). Then for  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  there exists a function  $u = u(\cdot; u_0)$  such that for any T > 0

$$u \in C([0,T], L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})) \cap H^{1}((0,T), H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})) \cap L^{\infty}((0,T), L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$$

that satisfies (1.1) in the sense that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(\frac{du}{dt}v + \Delta u \Delta v - f(x, u)v\right) = 0$$

holds for a.e. t > 0 with any  $v \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , or equivalently,

$$\frac{du}{dt} + \Delta^2 u - f(\cdot, u) = 0 \quad in \quad L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}_{loc}((0,\infty), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))').$$

Also, for any  $\tau > 0$ ,

for

$$u(t) = e^{-\Delta^2(t-\tau)}u(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-\Delta^2(t-s)}f(\cdot, u(s))ds, \ t > \tau$$

and  $u(\tau) \to u_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as  $\tau \to 0$ . If  $u_0$  is sufficiently smooth, e.g.  $u_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then the above holds for  $\tau = 0$ . Furthermore, if  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then

$$\mu: [0,T] \to H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$$
 is weakly continuous.

Finally, for  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and T > 0,

$$\|u(\cdot, u_{01}) - u(\cdot, u_{02})\|_{C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^2((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))} \le c(T) \|u_{01} - u_{02}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)},$$
  
some  $c(T) > 0.$ 

Thus

$$S(t): L^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad S(t)u_0 = u(t; u_0) \text{ for } t \ge 0, \ u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$

defines a  $C^0$  semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$  associated to (1.1) in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

We also establish some other properties of the semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$ . We show that for any t > 0, S(t) takes  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$ , restricted to  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , is a closed semigroup (thus also asymptotically closed) in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [28, 11]).

If, additionally, the linear and nonlinear parts of the equation suitably cooperate; that is the solutions of the linear problem

$$\begin{cases} u_t + \Delta^2 u = C(x), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(1.16)

are asymptotically decaying in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  or, equivalently,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (|\Delta \phi|^2 - C(x)\phi^2) \ge \omega_0 \|\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2, \ \phi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
(1.17)

holds for some  $\omega_0$  strictly positive (see [13, Theorem 2.1]), we show that there exists a bounded set  $B_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  absorbing bounded sets in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  under  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$ . Moreover, we prove

**Theorem 1.2.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14) and suppose that (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0$  strictly positive.

Then, the semigroup associated to (1.1) in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  has a global attractor **A**, that is **A** is invariant, compact in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and

$$\sup_{b\in B} \inf_{a\in A} \|S(t)b - a\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0 \quad as \quad t \to \infty$$

for each bounded subset B of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . In addition, **A** is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

We also show that each individual solution somehow approaches the set of equilibria of (1.1).

On the other hand we prove that problems like (1.1) with supercritical "bad"-signed nonlinearities are generally ill posed. In particular for the problem

$$\begin{cases} u_t + \Delta^2 u = |u|^{\rho - 1} u, \quad t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(1.18)

whose natural energy is given by

$$E(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 - \frac{1}{\rho+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{\rho+1}, \qquad (1.19)$$

we prove the following. Given  $\rho > 1$ , let  $u_0$  be a smooth enough function. Then we say that u(x,t) is a local finite energy solution of (1.18) if it is defined for some  $0 \le t < T \le \infty$  and for each  $t, u(t) \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N), u_t(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , satisfies the equation in (1.18) and  $t \mapsto E(u(t))$  is absolutely continuous.

Theorem 1.3. Assume

$$\rho > \frac{N+4}{N-4}$$

and assume  $u_0$  is a smooth enough initial data such that

$$E(u_0) < 0$$

and there exists a local finite energy solution of (1.18).

Then (1.18) is ill posed in the sense of Hadamard in the class of finite energy solutions. More precisely there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

$$u_0^n \to 0$$
 in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

with negative energy,  $E(u_0^n) < 0$ , and the corresponding finite energy solutions have existence times

$$T_n \to 0.$$

If

$$\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$$

then (1.18) is not uniformly well posed in the class of finite energy solutions. More precisely there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

$$u_0^n$$
 is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

with negative energy,  $E(u_0^n) < 0$ , and the corresponding finite energy solutions have existence times

$$T_n \to 0.$$

We also discuss ill–possedness for other classes of solutions.

Some general comments on the assumptions above are in place. First, note that the supercritical range we consider (1.10) requires  $N \ge 5$ , since for  $N \le 4$  any value of  $\rho$  is subcritical. Although this may look unnatural from the physical point of view, mathematically it is interesting to understand how linear and nonlinear terms interact in equations like (1.1). Also, with assumption (1.12) with  $a_{\rho} = 0$ , global existence and asymptotic behavior of solutions was studied in [13] either for subcritical problems in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , i.e.  $\rho < 1 + \frac{8}{N-4}$ , or up to critical in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , i.e.  $\rho \le 1 + \frac{8}{N}$ . With the stronger assumption (1.14) that paper also considered subcritical problems in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and, as in Theorem 1.1, the solution was constructed for initial data in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Here we have been forced to consider both (1.12) and (1.14) simultaneously, which can be obtained from (1.15). However in the particular case of critical  $\rho = 1 + \frac{8}{N-4}$ , our results here extend the ones in [13].

A big difference between the analysis carried out in [3] for (1.2) and the one here for (1.1) is the following. For both (1.1) and (1.2) and given some value of  $\rho > 1$ , it is always possible to consider smooth enough initial data such that the problem is subcritical, see e.g. [3] and [12], thus local existence of solutions follows. To prove global existence for these smooth solutions under some condition on f(x, u) like (1.14), for (1.2) the maximum principle gives  $L^{\infty}$  bounds which do the job. However for (1.1) maximum principle does not apply and one has to rely on energy estimates. But for such smooth solutions, (1.3) does not provide enough information to prove global existence. Thus, for (1.2), one can use a density argument and extend the global solution for initial data in say,  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Therefore, here instead of just taking smoother initial data to begin with, we also regularize the equation (1.1) to make it subcritical and start the solution and prove it is global.

A brief description of the contents of this paper is as follows. In Section 2 we consider a family of approximate regularized problems and derive the estimates of approximate solutions.

In Section 3, for smooth initial data, we obtain a solution of (1.1) as the limit solution of the solutions of the regularized problems. We also prove such solution is unique in a suitable class. We then extend such solutions to initial data in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . In particular, we prove Theorem 1.1.

In Section 4 we show the solutions in Section 3 define a  $C^0$ -semigroup in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and exhibit its dissipative properties. In particular, we complete the proof of Theorem 1.2 and that each individual solution somehow approaches the set of equilibria of (1.1), see Theorem 4.8.

Finally in Section 5 we turn our attention to the problem with "bad"-signed nonlinearity, (1.18), and prove that a local finite energy solution with negative initial energy ceases to exists in finite time, see Theorem 5.2. Using this and some scaling properties of (1.18) we prove Theorem 1.3.

Section 6 contains some final remarks concerning the supercritical nature of the nonlinear term.

Acknowledgment. This work was carried out while the first author visited Departamento de Matemática Aplicada, Universidad Complutense de Madrid. He wishes to acknowledge hospitality of the people from this Institution.

#### 2. Approximate solutions and a priori estimates

In this section we consider a family of approximate regularized problems

$$\begin{cases} u_t^{\eta} + \eta \Lambda^{2k} u^{\eta} + \Delta^2 u^{\eta} = f(x, u^{\eta}), & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^{\eta}(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where  $\eta \in (0, 1], 4k > N$  and

$$\Lambda := -\Delta + Id. \tag{2.2}$$

We will show below that (2.1) is well posed for  $u_0 \in H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and the solutions are globally defined for  $t \geq 0$ . Using this, in what follows, we obtain some bounds on the solutions of (2.1). Note that we denote systematically below by c a constant that is independent of  $\eta$ .

We start with two preliminary results that will be used several times henceforth.

**Proposition 2.1.** Suppose that  $C \in L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $r > \max\{\frac{N}{4}, 1\}$ .

Then, there exists a certain  $\omega_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that (1.17) is satisfied. There exists also a continuous decreasing real valued function  $\omega(\nu)$  defined in a certain interval  $[0, \nu_0]$  such that

$$\lim_{\nu \to 0^+} \omega(\nu) = \omega(0) = \omega_0$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( (1-\nu) |\Delta\phi|^2 - C(x)\phi^2 \right) \ge \omega(\nu) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \phi^2 \quad \text{for all} \ \phi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N), \ \nu \in [0,\nu_0].$$

Consider now the bilinear form  $b: H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \times H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}$ 

$$b(\phi,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} C(x)\phi\psi, \qquad \phi,\psi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
(2.3)

for which we have the following result.

**Proposition 2.2.** Suppose that  $C \in L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with  $r \geq \frac{N}{4}$  and r > 1.

Then for some  $c_0 > 0$  we have

$$|b(\phi,\psi)| \le c_0 \|\phi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \|\psi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}, \qquad \phi, \psi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

**Proof:** Suppose that  $r < \infty$  as for  $r = \infty$  the result is obvious.

We cover  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with cubes  $Q_i, i \in \mathbb{Z}^N$ , centered at  $i \in \mathbb{Z}^N$  and having unitary edges parallel to the axes so that  $\mathbb{R}^N = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^N} \overline{Q_i}$ , where  $Q_i \cap Q_j = \emptyset$  for  $i \neq j$ . Hence, applying a generalized Hölder's inequality with  $p_1, p_2, p_3 > 1$ ,  $\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{p_3} = 1$ , we get

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C\phi\psi\right| \leq \sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} \int_{Q_{i}} |C||\phi||\psi| \leq \sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|C\|_{L^{p_{1}}(Q_{i})} \|\phi\|_{L^{p_{2}}(Q_{i})} \|\psi\|_{L^{p_{3}}(Q_{i})}$$

If N > 5 this holds for  $p_1 = \frac{N}{4}$ ,  $p_2 = p_3 = \frac{2N}{N-4}$ . If  $N \leq 4$  this holds with  $p_1 = r$ ,  $p_2 = p_3 = 2r'$ . In either case  $L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N) \subset L^{p_1}(Q_i)$ ,  $H^2(Q_i) \subset L^{p_2}(Q_i) \cap L^{p_3}(Q_i)$  and we get that  $\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C\phi\psi\right| \text{ is bounded by a multiple of } \|C\|_{L^{r}_{U}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \left(\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|\phi\|^{2}_{H^{2}(Q_{i})}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}^{N}} \|\psi\|_{H^{2}(Q_{i})}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$ Consequently,  $\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} C\phi\psi\right| \leq c \|C\|_{L^r_U(\mathbb{R}^N)} \|\phi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \|\psi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ , which proves the result.  $\Box$ 

## 2.1. Estimates up to time t = 0.

**Lemma 2.3.** Assume (1.5)–(1.13) and  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$ . Then, for every T > 0, we have

$$||u^{\eta}(t)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \le M_{1}(R,T), \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$
(2.4)

for some  $M_1(R,T)$  independent of  $\eta \in (0,1]$ . Furthermore,

$$\|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}((0,T),H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))}^{2} + a_{\rho}\|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{\rho+1}((0,T),L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))}^{+1} \leq M_{2}(R,T),$$
(2.5)

for some  $M_2(R,T)$  independent of  $\eta \in (0,1]$ .

If (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0 > 0$  we have in fact

$$|u^{\eta}(t)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq ||u_{0}||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}e^{-\omega t} + M(1 - e^{-\omega t})$$

for some  $M, \omega > 0$  and independent of  $\eta$ .

**Proof:** Multiplying (2.1) by  $u^{\eta}$ , integrating, using (1.12)-(1.13) and the embedding  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow$  $L^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , with s as in (1.13), we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \eta \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + a_{\rho} \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x) |u^{\eta}|^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} D(x) |u^{\eta}| \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x) |u^{\eta}|^{2} + \|D\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \|u^{\eta}\|_{H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}$$

and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| u^{\eta} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \eta \| \Lambda^{k} u^{\eta} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \| \Delta u^{\eta} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + a_{\rho} \| u^{\eta} \|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x) |u^{\eta}|^{2} + \frac{c}{\varepsilon} \| D \|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \big( \| \Delta u^{\eta} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \| u^{\eta} \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \big). \end{aligned}$$

Writing  $\|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  as  $\varepsilon \|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + (1-\varepsilon)\|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  and using Proposition 2.1 we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \eta \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + a_{\rho} \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} + \omega \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \\
\leq \frac{c}{\varepsilon} \|D\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}$$
(2.6)

for some  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ , which is positive if  $\omega_0$  in (2.3) is positive. Gronwall's lemma now leads to (2.4), while integrating (2.6) and using (2.4) we get (2.5).

**Lemma 2.4.** Besides the assumptions of Lemma 2.3 assume also (1.14) and  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Then the solutions of (2.1) satisfy the estimates

$$\|u_t^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le \|-\eta\Lambda^{2k}u_0 + (-\Delta^2 + m)u_0 + f_0(\cdot, u_0) + g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 e^{-\hat{\omega}t}$$
(2.7)

and

$$\|u_t^{\eta}\|_{L^2((0,t),H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))}^2 \le c\| -\eta\Lambda^{2k}u_0 + (-\Delta^2 + m)u_0 + f_0(\cdot, u_0) + g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 (e^{-\hat{\omega}t} + 1)$$
(2.8)

with certain  $\hat{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}$ , c > 0 independent of  $\eta \in (0, 1]$  and the initial condition  $u_0$ .

**Proof:** Differentiating (2.1) with respect to time we obtain that  $v^{\eta} = u_t^{\eta}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} v_t^{\eta} + \eta \Lambda^{2k} v^{\eta} + \Delta^2 v^{\eta} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(x, u^{\eta}) v^{\eta}, & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ v^{\eta}(0, x) = -\eta \Lambda^{2k} u_0(x) - \Delta^2 u_0(x) + f(x, u_0(x)), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

Multiplying the first equation in (2.9) by  $v^{\eta}$ , integrating and using (1.14) we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \eta\|\Lambda^{k}v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|\Delta v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}L(x)|v^{\eta}|^{2} \le 0$$

Writing  $\|\Delta v^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  as  $\varepsilon \|\Delta v^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + (1-\varepsilon)\|\Delta v^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  and using Proposition 2.1 we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \varepsilon\|\Delta v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \omega_{\varepsilon}\|v^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \le 0,$$
(2.10)

for  $\varepsilon$  small enough and some  $\omega_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$ . This leads to (2.7) while (2.8) follows from (2.7) and (2.10).

Now we obtain some estimates on the solutions  $u^{\eta}$  using the energy (1.3). Hence we first prove the following.

**Proposition 2.5.** [12, Lemma 3.1]. If  $f_0$  satisfies (1.8), (1.9) then there exist certain functions  $f_{01}$ ,  $f_{02}$  such that i)  $f_0(x, u) = f_{01}(x, u) + f_{02}(x, u), x \in \mathbb{R}^N, u \in \mathbb{R},$ ii)  $f_{01}(x, 0) = f_{02}(x, 0) = 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$ 

iii)  $f_{01}(x, u)$  is globally Lipschitz in  $u \in \mathbb{R}$  uniformly for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and

iv) for some c > 0 we have  $|f_{02}(x, u_1) - f_{02}(x, u_2)| \le c|u_1 - u_2|(|u_1|^{\rho-1} + |u_2|^{\rho-1}), u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consequently,

$$|f_{01}(x,u)| \le c|u|$$
 and  $|f_{02}(x,u)| \le c|u|^{\rho}$  for all  $u \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$ . (2.11)

Using this decomposition, we have

**Lemma 2.6.** If conditions (1.5)-(1.13) hold then i)

$$|E(\phi)| \le c(\|\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} + \|\phi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|\phi\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1}), \ \phi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
(2.12)

for some constant c > 0.

ii) There are constants  $a_1, a_2, a_3 > 0$  such that

$$a_1(\|\phi\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + a_\rho \|\phi\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1}) - a_2 \le E(\phi) + a_3 \|\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2, \ \phi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
(2.13)

Furthermore, (2.13) holds with  $a_3 = 0$  provided that (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0 > 0$ .

**Proof:** i) Observe that using (2.11) we get

$$|\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(x,\phi)| \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |m(x)|\phi^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |g(x)\phi| + \frac{c}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\phi(x)|^2 + \frac{c}{\rho+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\phi(x)|^{\rho+1}.$$

Using now (1.6), Proposition 2.2 and Hölder's inequality we get (2.12).

ii) From (1.12) we now have

$$F(x,u) = \int_0^u f(x,s) \, ds \le \frac{1}{2} C(x) u^2 + D(x) |u| - \frac{a_\rho}{\rho+1} |u|^{\rho+1}, \quad u \in \mathbb{R}$$

and hence for  $\phi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,

$$2E(\phi) \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta\phi|^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} C(x)\phi^2 - 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} D(x)|\phi| + \frac{2a_{\rho}}{\rho+1} \|u\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1}.$$

Using (1.13) and the embedding  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and taking into account that the norm  $\|\Delta \phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} + \|\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}$  is equivalent to the  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  norm we get, with Hölder's inequality,

$$2E(\phi) - \frac{2a_{\rho}}{\rho+1} \|u\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta\phi|^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x)\phi^{2} - 2\|D\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \|\phi\|_{L^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}$$
$$\ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta\phi|^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x)\phi^{2} - \frac{c}{\varepsilon} \|D\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} (\|\Delta\phi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|\phi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2})$$
$$= \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \|\Delta\phi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left( (1-\varepsilon) |\Delta\phi|^{2} - C(x)\phi^{2} \right) - \frac{c}{\varepsilon} \|D\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \|\phi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}.$$

Applying Proposition 2.1 with  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough we obtain

$$2E(\phi) - \frac{2a_{\rho}}{\rho+1} \|\phi\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1} \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \|\Delta\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \omega \|\phi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 - \frac{c}{\varepsilon} \|D\|_{L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$$

with some  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ , which is positive if  $\omega_0$  in (1.17) is positive. The proof now follows easily.  $\Box$ 

Hence for the solutions of (2.1) we have

**Lemma 2.7.** Assume (1.5)–(1.13) and  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Then the solution of (2.1) satisfy, for  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$a_1 \left( \|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + a_{\rho} \|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1} \right) \le E(u_0) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^k u_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + a_2 + a_3 \|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2,$$

where  $a_1, a_2, a_3$  are the constants from Lemma 2.6.

**Proof:** Multiplying (2.1) by  $u_t^{\eta}$  we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}(E(u^{\eta}(t)) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}) = -\|u_{t}^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq 0.$$
(2.14)

Integrating (2.14) we have

$$E(u^{\eta}(t)) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq E(u_{0}) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}.$$
(2.15)

Using now (2.13) we get the result.

2.2. Estimates away from zero. Now we derive better estimates on time intervals away from t = 0.

**Lemma 2.8.** Assume (1.5)–(1.13) and  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$ . Then for any  $0 < \tau < T$  the solution of (2.1) satisfies

$$\|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + a_{\rho}\|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} \le M_{3}(R,\tau,T) \quad \tau \le t \le T,$$
(2.16)

where  $M_3(R, \tau, T)$  does not depend on  $\eta \in (0, 1]$ .

If  $\omega_0$  in (1.17) is positive then the bound above can be taken independent of T, i.e.  $M_3 = M_3(R,\tau)$ .

**Proof:** Using (2.4) and, for  $0 < t + \tau \leq T$ , integrating (2.6) in the interval  $(t, t + \tau)$ , we get

$$\int_{t}^{t+\tau} \eta \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}, \quad \int_{t}^{t+\tau} \|u^{\eta}\|_{H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}, \quad a_{\rho} \int_{t}^{t+\tau} \|u^{\eta}\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} \le c_{1}(R,T), \quad (2.17)$$

for some constant  $c_1(R,T) > 0$  independent of  $t \in [0, T - \tau]$  and  $\eta \in (0, 1]$ . Using then (2.12) and (2.17) we have

$$\int_{t}^{t+\tau} (E(u^{\eta}) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}) \le c_{2}(R, T)$$
(2.18)

with  $c_2(R,T)$  independent of  $\eta \in (0,1]$  and  $t \in [0, T - \tau]$ .

Now, for  $s \in (t, t + \tau)$  integrating in (2.14) yields

$$E(u^{\eta}(t+\tau)) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}(t+\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \le E(u^{\eta}(s)) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}(s)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}$$
(2.19)

and integrating (2.19) with respect to  $s \in (t, t + \tau)$  and using (2.18) we conclude that

$$E(u^{\eta}(t+\tau)) + \frac{\eta}{2} \|\Lambda^{k} u^{\eta}(t+\tau)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq \frac{c_{2}(R,T)}{\tau} \text{ for } t \in [0, T-\tau].$$
(2.20)

Thus, from this and (2.13) and (2.4) we have

$$a_1(\|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + a_{\rho}\|u^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1}) \le \frac{c_2(R,T)}{\tau} + a_2 + a_3M_1(R,T) \quad \tau \le t \le T$$

and we get the result.

Observe that if  $\omega_0$  in (1.17) is positive, then the estimate in (2.4) is independent of T and so are the bounds in (2.17), (2.18) and (2.20).

**Lemma 2.9.** Assume (1.5)–(1.13) and  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$ . Then for any  $0 < \tau < T$  the solution of (2.1) satisfies

$$\|u_t^{\eta}(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le M_4(R,\tau,T), \quad \tau \le t \le T,$$
(2.21)

and

$$\|u_t^{\eta}\|_{L^2((\tau,T),H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))}^2 \le M_5(R,\tau,T)$$
(2.22)

where  $M_4(R, \tau, T)$  and  $M_5(R, \tau, T)$  are independent of  $\eta \in (0, 1]$ .

Moreover, if  $\omega_0$  in (1.17) is positive, then  $M_4 = M_4(R,\tau)$  and  $M_5 = M_5(R,\tau)$ .

**Proof:** We integrate in (2.14) and use (2.20) in the right hand side and (2.13) and (2.4) in the left hand side to get

$$\int_{t}^{t+\tau} \|u_{t}^{\eta}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq c_{1}(R,\tau,T), \quad \tau \leq t \leq t+\tau \leq T.$$
(2.23)

Now, fix  $s \in (t, t + \tau)$ , integrate in (2.10) in  $(s, t + \tau)$  neglecting the Laplacian term, and use (2.23) to obtain

$$\|u_t^{\eta}(t+\tau)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le \|u_t^{\eta}(s)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + c_2(R,\tau,T).$$

We now integrate in  $s \in (t, t + \tau)$  and use (2.23) again to obtain

$$\|u_t^{\eta}(t+\tau)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le \frac{(1+\tau)}{\tau} c_2(R,\tau,T), \quad \tau \le t \le T.$$

Since  $\tau$  and T are arbitrary, we get (2.21). Integrating again in (2.10) and keeping the Laplacian term, we get (2.22).

Finally, if  $\omega_0$  in (1.17) is positive, the estimate in (2.20) and (2.23) are independent of T and so are (2.21) and (2.22).

**Remark 2.10.** If we assume that f does not depend on x, then L in (1.14) does not depend on x either, and then after multiplying (2.1) by  $\Delta u^{\eta}$  and integrating over  $\mathbb{R}^{N}$  we would get a term of the form

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u^\eta) \Delta u^\eta = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f'(u^\eta) |\nabla u^\eta|^2 \le L \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla u^\eta|^2$$

and we would get from (2.1)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla \Delta u^{\eta}|^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_t^{\eta} \Delta u^{\eta} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(u^{\eta}) \Delta u^{\eta} \le \frac{1}{2} (\|u_t^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|\Delta u^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2) + L \|\nabla u^{\eta}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2.$$

Using (2.16) and (2.21) we could conclude that, given  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$  and  $0 < \tau < T$ ,

 $||u^{\eta}||^{2}_{H^{3}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \leq M_{6}(R,\tau,T).$ 

In particular, this gives an  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  bound, independent of  $\eta$ , on the solutions of (2.1), for every  $\rho > \rho_c$  in dimension  $N \leq 5$ .

2.3. Existence, uniqueness and regularity of approximate solutions. For the existence, uniqueness and regularity results for (2.1), we use [23, 29]. For this, recall that  $\Lambda = -\Delta + Id$  is a self-adjoint positive definite operator in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and so is  $\Lambda^{2k} = (-\Delta + Id)^{2k}$ for every integer k > 0 (see [23, § 1.4, 1.6]). Thus,  $\Lambda^{2k}$  is a negative generator of a  $C^0$  analytic semigroup in  $X := L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . The fractional power spaces of this operator are given by

$$X^{\alpha} = D((\Lambda^{2k})^{\alpha}) = D(\Lambda^{2k\alpha}) = H^{4k\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ for each } \alpha \in (0,1), \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$

(see [10, (1.3.48), (1.3.62)]); in particular

$$X^{\frac{1}{2}} = H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

We now fix  $k \geq 2$  large enough such that

$$2k - \frac{N}{2} > 0, (2.24)$$

in which case

$$H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
 (2.25)

Hence, for  $\eta > 0$   $A_{\eta} := \eta \Lambda^{2k}$ , is still positive selfadjoint with the same fractional power spaces as above.

Thus, (2.1) can be written as an abstract problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{du^{\eta}}{dt} + A_{\eta}u^{\eta} = \mathcal{F}(u^{\eta}) := -\Delta^2 u^{\eta} + f(\cdot, u^{\eta}), \quad t > 0, \\ u^{\eta}(0) = u_0 \end{cases}$$
(2.26)

and we prove the following result.

**Proposition 2.11.** Assume (1.5)–(1.11) and (2.24). Then,

i) given  $u_0 \in H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , there exists the unique global mild solution  $u^{\eta}$  of (2.1) which satisfies  $u^{\eta} \in C([0,\infty), H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C((0,\infty), H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C^1((0,\infty), H^{4\beta}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  for any  $\beta \in [0,1)$  and  $u^{\eta}$  satisfies (2.26).

ii) If, in addition,  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then also  $u^\eta \in C([0,\infty), H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N))) \cap C^1([0,\infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . iii) Actually, if  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then  $v^\eta = \frac{du^\eta}{dt}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dv^{\eta}}{dt} + A_{\eta}v^{\eta} = \mathcal{F}'(u^{\eta})v^{\eta} := -\Delta^2 v^{\eta} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{\eta}}(\cdot, u^{\eta})v^{\eta}, \quad t > 0, \\ v^{\eta}(0) = -A_{\eta}u_0 + \mathcal{F}(u_0). \end{cases}$$
(2.27)

**Proof:** i) Due to (2.25) and assumptions on f, the nonlinear term  $\mathcal{F}$  in (2.26) is Lipschitz continuous map on bounded sets from  $H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Hence local existence part for (2.26) follows as in [23] (see also [10, Lemma 2.2.1 and Corollary 2.3.1]). The solution actually exists for all  $t \geq 0$  because (2.15) and Lemmas 2.6, 2.3 imply that  $H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -norm of  $u^{\eta}$  does not blow up in a finite time.

For part ii) we refer the reader to [33, Theorem I.1]. iii) To obtain (2.27) observe that, by (1.11) and (2.25),  $\mathcal{F}$  is of the class  $C^1(H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ and its Fréchet derivative,  $\mathcal{F}'(\varphi)h = -\Delta^2 h + m(\cdot)h + \frac{\partial f_0}{\partial \varphi}(\cdot, \varphi)h, \varphi, h \in H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , is Lipschitz continuous on bounded sets from  $H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $\mathcal{L}(H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ .

Therefore,  $\mathcal{F}(u^{\eta}(\cdot))$  is  $C^{1}((0,\infty), L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$  and from the proof of Corollary 2.5, page 107 in [29] we get that  $v^{\eta} = u_{t}^{\eta}$  is a mild solution of (2.27), that is

$$v^{\eta}(t) = e^{-A_{\eta}t} \left( -A_{\eta}u_0 + \mathcal{F}(u_0) \right) + \int_0^t e^{-A_{\eta}(t-s)} \mathcal{F}'(u^{\eta}(s)) v^{\eta}(s) ds, \quad t > 0.$$

Since, from i),  $\frac{du^{\eta}}{dt}(t)$  is locally Hölder continuous from  $(0, \infty)$  into  $H^{2k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [23, Theorem 3.5.2]), using the Lipschitz property of  $\mathcal{F}'$ , we obtain that  $\mathcal{F}'(u^{\eta}(s))v^{\eta}(s)$  is locally Hölder continuous from  $(0, \infty)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Consequently,  $v^{\eta}$  is a strong solution of (2.27), see [23, Lemma 3.5.1].

**Remark 2.12.** Note that the regularity of  $u^{\eta}$  in Proposition 2.11 implies that all estimates in Lemmas 2.3, 2.4 2.7, 2.8 and 2.9 are valid.

#### 3. Limit solutions

Here we construct a unique global solution of (1.1) as a limit of solutions of (2.1) as  $\eta \to 0$ .

#### 3.1. Smooth initial conditions. We start from the following auxiliary lemma.

**Lemma 3.1.** Assume (1.5)-(1.14) and (2.24). Suppose also that  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $u^{\eta}$  are the solutions of (2.26) through  $u_0$  as in Proposition 2.11.

Then, given a sequence of parameters  $\eta \to 0^+$ , there is a subsequence of  $\{u^\eta\}$ , which for simplicity we denote the same, and there is a certain function u such that, for any T > 0,

$$u \in L^{\infty}((0,T), H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})) \cap H^{1}((0,T), H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})),$$
(3.1)

and

i)

 $u^{\eta} \to u$ 

weakly in  $H^1((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ , in  $L^{\rho+1}((0,T), L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and weak-\* in  $L^{\infty}((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ .

ii)

$$u_t^\eta \to u_t$$

weak-\* in  $L^{\infty}((0,T), L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$ .

In particular  $u^{\eta} \to u$  in  $C([0,T], H^s_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ , for any s < 2 and  $u^{\eta}(t,x) \to u(t,x)$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  for each  $t \in [0,T]$  as well as for a. e.  $(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Proof:** The weak convergence above comes from the bounds in Lemmas 2.3 and 2.4, which are uniform with respect to  $\eta$ . In fact the uniform bounds on the time derivatives imply the equicontinuity of  $u^{\eta}$  with values in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . This combined with the uniform bounds in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and interpolation, gives the equicontinuity of  $u^{\eta}$  with values in  $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for any s < 2. Finally, since the embedding  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \subset H^s_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is compact, Arzelà-Ascoli arguments give the convergence in  $C([0,T], H^s_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ , for any s < 2.

Finally, using an increasing sequence of balls in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and a diagonal argument, we obtain the a.e. convergence in the statement.

With this, we can prove the following.

**Theorem 3.2.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14). Then for each  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  there exists a unique function such that for any T > 0,

$$u = u(\cdot, u_0) \in L^{\infty}((0, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap H^1((0, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)), \quad u(0) = u_0$$

and solving (1.1) in the sense that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \frac{du}{dt} v + \Delta u \Delta v - f(x, u) v \right) = 0$$
(3.2)

holds for a.e. t > 0 with any  $v \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , or equivalently, for any T > 0,

$$\frac{du}{dt} + \Delta^2 u - f(\cdot, u) = 0 \quad in \quad L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0, T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))').$$
(3.3)

Moreover, for each  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and T > 0 the solutions above satisfy Lipschitz condition

$$\|u(\cdot, u_{01}) - u(\cdot, u_{02})\|_{C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^2((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))} \le c(T)\|u_{01} - u_{02}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)},$$
(3.4)

where c(T) is a positive constant independent of initial data.

**Proof:** Note that from Proposition 2.5 and the estimates in Lemmas 2.3 and 2.4 we have that  $f_{01}(\cdot, u^{\eta})$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}((0, T), L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$  and  $f_{02}(\cdot, u^{\eta})$  is bounded in  $L^{\infty}((0, T), L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$  uniformly with respect to  $\eta \in (0, 1]$ . Hence we can assume that  $f_{01}(\cdot, u^{\eta})$  converges weakly to  $F_{1}$  in  $L^{2}((0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N})$  and  $f_{02}(\cdot, u^{\eta})$  converges weakly to  $F_{2}$  in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N})$ .

to  $F_1$  in  $L^2((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $f_{02}(\cdot, u^\eta)$  converges weakly to  $F_2$  in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ . Also, from Lemma 3.1  $f_{0j}(\cdot, u^\eta) \to f_{0j}(\cdot, u)$  a.e. on  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for j = 1, 2, and then Lemma 4.8 in [24], gives that  $F_j = f_{0j}(\cdot, u)$  a.e. on  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for j = 1, 2 and  $f_{01}(\cdot, u^\eta) \to f_{01}(\cdot, u)$  weakly in  $L^2((0,T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and  $f_{02}(\cdot, u^\eta) \to f_{02}(\cdot, u)$  weakly in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0,T), L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . On the other hand weak continuity properties of linear continuous operators give that

On the other hand weak continuity properties of linear continuous operators give that  $\Delta^2 u^\eta \to \Delta^2 u$  and  $m(x)u^\eta \to m(x)u$  weakly in  $L^2((0,T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))')$ ; see e.g. page 204, [30].

So it remains to prove that  $\eta \Lambda^k u^\eta \to 0$  in a weak sense. For this, take a very smooth function  $\phi \in L^2((0,T), H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and then

$$\eta \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^\eta \Lambda^{2k} \phi \to 0$$

as  $\eta \to 0$ .

Therefore, passing to the limit in (2.1) we get that the limit function satisfies (3.3), which is equivalent to (3.2) by e.g. Lemma 7.4 in [30].

To prove the uniqueness, observe that if for  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and T > 0 we consider functions  $u^1 = u(\cdot, u_{01}), u^2 = u(\cdot, u_{02})$  satisfying (3.1) and (3.3) then  $V(t) = u^1(t) - u^2(t)$ satisfies  $\frac{dV}{dt} + \Delta^2 V = (f(x, u^1(t)) - f(x, u^2(t)))$  in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0, T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))')$  and  $V \in L^{\rho+1}((0, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . Hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \frac{dV}{dt}(t)V(t) + |\Delta V(t)|^2 - (f(x, u^1(t)) - f(x, u^2(t)))V(t) \right) = 0$$

for a.e. t > 0. From (1.14) we then have, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|V\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \varepsilon\|\Delta V\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left((1-\varepsilon)|\Delta V|^{2} - L(x)|V|^{2}\right) \le 0$$

and using Proposition 2.1 we obtain, for some and  $\omega_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|V\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \varepsilon\|\Delta V\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \omega_{\varepsilon}\|V\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \le 0$$
(3.5)

for a.e. t > 0. Dropping the middle term above, Gronwall's lemma gives

$$\|V(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le c(T)\|V(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Using this and integrating in (3.5) leads to

$$\varepsilon \int_0^T \|\Delta V\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le c(T) \|V(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$$

which proves (3.4) and, in particular, the claim on uniqueness.

**Remark 3.3.** i) Observe that the uniqueness in Theorem 3.2 implies that the whole family of approximate solutions  $u^{\eta}$  converges to u as  $\eta \to 0^+$  as in Lemma 3.1. ii) Note that if we had that

$$u_t \in L^{\rho+1}_{loc}((0,T), L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

then we would get, taking  $u_t$  as a test function in (3.3), the energy estimate for the limit equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}(E(u(t)) + ||u_t(t)||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} = 0.$$

In fact, from Proposition 3.11 below, in the critical case we have

$$u_t \in L^{\rho+1}_{loc}((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)),$$

and we get the energy as above; see see Proposition 3.11 below.

We also have

**Corollary 3.4.** For  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , with  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$  and T > 0, the solutions of (1.1) in Theorem 3.2 satisfy the following estimates, for  $0 \leq t \leq T$ , *i*)

$$\|u(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq M_{1}(R,T)$$
$$\|u\|_{L^{2}((0,T),H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))}^{2} + a_{\rho}\|u\|_{L^{\rho+1}((0,T),L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))}^{\rho+1} \leq M_{2}(R,T)$$

ii)

$$\|u_t(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le \|(-\Delta^2 + m)u_0 + f_0(\cdot, u_0) + g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 e^{-\hat{\omega}t}$$
$$\|u_t\|_{L^2((0,t), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))}^2 \le c\|(-\Delta^2 + m)u_0 + f_0(\cdot, u_0) + g\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 (e^{-\hat{\omega}t} + 1),$$

for some  $\hat{\omega} \in \mathbb{R}$ .

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}((0,T),H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})\cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))} \leq c(E(u_{0}) + M_{1}(R,T) + 1).$$

Also, for  $0 < \tau < T$ , they satisfy *iv*)

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}((\tau,T),H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})\cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))} \leq M_{3}(R,\tau,T)$$

v)

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_t\|_{L^{\infty}((\tau,T),L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))}^2 &\leq M_4(R,\tau,T) \\ \|u_t\|_{L^2((\tau,T),H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))}^2 &\leq M_5(R,\tau,T). \end{aligned}$$

Additionally, if (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0 > 0$  we have

$$||u(t)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le ||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 e^{-\omega t} + M(1 - e^{-\omega t})$$

for some  $M, \omega > 0$  and in the bounds above  $M_1, M_3, M_4$  and  $M_5$  can be taken independent of T.

**Remark 3.5.** If we have an estimate as in Remark 2.10, then weak lower semicontinuity will give again that given  $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq R$  and  $0 < \tau < T$ ,

$$||u||^2_{H^3(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le M_6(R, \tau, T)$$

which gives an  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  bound, independent of  $\eta$ , for every  $\rho > \rho_c$  in dimension  $N \leq 5$ .

**Proposition 3.6.** For  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  the solution of (1.1) in Theorem 3.2 satisfies the variation of constants formula

$$u(t) = e^{-\Delta^2 t} u_0 + \int_0^t e^{-\Delta^2 (t-s)} f(\cdot, u(s)) ds, \ t > 0.$$
(3.6)

**Proof:** Letting  $\mathcal{X} = H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , we have that  $f(\cdot, u(\cdot)) \in L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0,T), \mathcal{X}') \hookrightarrow L^1((0,T), \mathcal{X}')$  and (3.2) implies

$$\frac{d}{dt}\langle u,v\rangle_{\mathcal{X}',\mathcal{X}} + \langle u,\Delta^2 v\rangle_{\mathcal{X}',\mathcal{X}} - \langle f(\cdot,u),v\rangle_{\mathcal{X}',\mathcal{X}} = 0$$

for a.e. t > 0 whenever  $v \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

On the other hand,  $\Delta^2$  generates a  $C^0$  analytic semigroup  $\{e^{-\Delta^2 t}\}$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and in  $L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [12]). In particular  $\{e^{-\Delta^2 t}\}$  is a  $C^0$ -semigroup in  $\mathcal{X} = H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  whose generator is the realization of  $-\Delta^2$  in  $\mathcal{X}$ . Consequently, by [29, Corollary 1.10.6],  $\{e^{-\Delta^2 t}\}$  is also a  $C^0$  semigroup in  $\mathcal{X}'$  (as the the adjoint semigroup generated by the adjoint infinitesimal operator).

Therefore the results in [7] gives that u satisfies (3.6).

3.2. Initial conditions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We now obtain limit solutions for initial data in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

## **Theorem 3.7.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14).

If  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then for any sequence  $\{u_{0n}\} \subset H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  converging to  $u_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , the sequence of solutions of (1.1),  $\{u(t; u_{0n})\}$ , as in Theorem 3.2, is a Cauchy sequence in  $C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^2((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$  for every T > 0.

i) The limit function  $u(\cdot; u_0)$  is independent of the sequence  $\{u_{0n}\} \subset H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and satisfies

$$u \in C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^2((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)), \ T > 0,$$

and for all  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and T > 0,

$$\|u(\cdot, u_{01}) - u(\cdot, u_{02})\|_{C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^2((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))} \le c(T)\|u_{01} - u_{02}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)},$$

for some c(T) > 0. In particular,  $u(t; u_0)$  is continuous in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with respect to  $(t, u_0) \in [0, \infty) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

ii) For any  $T > \tau > 0$ 

$$u(\cdot, u_0) \in L^{\infty}((\tau, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap H^1((\tau, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

and satisfies (1.1) in the sense that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(\frac{du}{dt}v + \Delta u \Delta v - f(x, u)v\right) = 0$$

holds for a.e. t > 0 with any  $v \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , or equivalently,

$$\frac{du}{dt} + \Delta^2 u - f(\cdot, u) = 0 \quad in \quad L_{loc}^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((0,\infty), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))').$$

Also, for any  $\tau > 0$ ,

$$u(t) = e^{-\Delta^2(t-\tau)}u(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-\Delta^2(t-s)}f(\cdot, u(s))ds, \ t > \tau$$

and  $u(\tau) \to u_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as  $\tau \to 0$ . *iii)* Furthermore, if  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then  $u: [0,T] \to H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is weakly continuous.

iv) Finally, estimates in Corollary 3.4 hold as follows. Estimates i), iv) and v) hold for  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , estimate ii) holds if  $u_0 \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and estimate iii) holds if  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Proof:** Part i) follows from (3.4) while the first part of ii) follows from estimates iv) and v) in Corollary 3.4 and weak lower semicontinuity. Also, from (3.3) we have for  $u^n = u(\cdot; u_0^n)$  and  $0 < \tau < T$ ,

$$\frac{du^n}{dt} + \Delta^2 u^n - f(\cdot, u^n) = 0 \text{ in } L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((\tau, T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))').$$

Now observe that the estimates i), iv) and v) in Corollary 3.4 for  $u^n$  are uniform in  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and then as in the proof of Theorem 3.2 we have  $u_t^n \to u_t$  weak-\* in  $L^{\infty}((\tau, T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and weakly in  $L^2((\tau, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ ,  $f_{01}(\cdot, u^n) \to f_{01}(\cdot, u)$  weakly in  $L^2((\tau, T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ ,  $f_{02}(\cdot, u^n) \to f_{02}(\cdot, u)$  weakly in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((\tau, T), L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ ,  $\Delta^2 u^n \to \Delta^2 u$  and  $m(x)u^n \to m(x)u$  weakly in  $L^2((0, T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))')$ . Hence passing to the limit we get

$$\frac{du}{dt} + \Delta^2 u - f(\cdot, u) = 0 \text{ in } L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}_{loc}((0, \infty), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))').$$

Also, using Proposition 3.6 we get the rest.

Part iii) follows from continuity of u in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and [31, Theorem 2.1]; see also Lemma 3.3, page 72 in [32].

Finally, part iv) follows from weak lower semicontinuity of the norms.

**Remark 3.8.** i) Note that if we had that

$$u_t \in L^{\rho+1}_{loc}((0,T), L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

then we would get, taking  $u_t$  as a test function in (3.3), the energy estimate for the limit equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}(E(u(t)) + ||u_t(t)||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} = 0$$

In fact, from Proposition 3.11 below, in the critical case we have

$$u_t \in L^{\rho+1}_{loc}((0,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

and we get the energy as above; see Proposition 3.11 below.

**Remark 3.9.** Note that for reaction diffusion equations as in (1.2), using maximum principles, one obtains that  $u \in L^{\infty}((\tau, T), L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . Hence  $f_0(\cdot, u) \in L^{\infty}((\tau, T), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and much further regularity of u follows by the variation of constants formula, see [3].

Also, for (1.1), if  $\rho$  is subcritical, we also obtain that  $u \in L^{\infty}((\tau,T), L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ , see [13]. Here we are able to obtain only that  $u \in L^{\infty}((\tau,T), L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . Hence  $f_{02}(\cdot, u) \in L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((\tau,T), L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and the larger the  $\rho$  the worse is the estimate, since  $\frac{\rho+1}{\rho} \to 1$  as  $\rho \to \infty$ . Also, since  $\rho$  is critical or supercritical using  $u \in L^{\infty}((\tau,T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$  and Sobolev embedding does not give better estimates either.

To end this section we prove that in the critical case,  $\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$ , the solution of (1.1) constructed in Theorem 3.2 for initial data in  $H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and in Theorem 3.7, for initial data in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , coincide with the solutions constructed in [12]. This, in particular, shows that in the assumptions of the theorems above, the solutions of the critical case are globally defined. This extends the results obtained in [13].

We first recall the local existence-uniqueness result established in [12, Theorem 1.4].

**Proposition 3.10.** Assume (1.5)–(1.11).

If  $\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$  then (1.1) is locally well posed in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Furthermore, the solution u of (1.1) through  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  satisfies

$$u \in C([0, \tau_{u_0}), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C((0, \tau_{u_0}), H^4(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C^1((0, \tau_{u_0}), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)),$$
(3.7)

where  $[0, \tau_{u_0})$  is the maximal interval of existence of this solution. Moreover  $u \in C^1((0, \tau_{u_0}), H^{4\theta}(\mathbb{R}^N))$  for any  $\theta < 1$ .

**Proof:** The existence of solution and (3.7) come straight from [12, Theorem 1.4].

The extra  $C^1$  regularity comes from observing that in the proof of that result one actually has that the nonlinear term is Lipschitz on bounded sets from  $H^{2+\varepsilon}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Hence, since  $u(\tau) \in H^{2+\varepsilon}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for any  $\tau > 0$ , then the smoothing effect of the equation gives the result, see e.g. Theorem 3.5.2, page 71, in [23] and [10].

Then we have

**Proposition 3.11.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14) and suppose that  $\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$ .

i) For  $u_0 \in H^{4k}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , with k as in (2.24), the solutions of (1.1) as in Theorem 3.2 and as in Proposition 3.10 coincide. In particular,  $\tau_{u_0} = \infty$  in Proposition 3.10.

ii) For  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , the solutions of (1.1) in Theorem 3.7 and as in Proposition 3.10 coincide. In particular,  $\tau_{u_0} = \infty$  in Proposition 3.10.

In either case above, the solution of (1.1) satisfies the energy equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}(E(u(t)) + ||u_t(t)||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} = 0, \quad t > 0.$$

**Proof:** For  $u_0$  as in the two cases in the statement, the solution in Theorems 3.2 or 3.7 and the solution in Proposition 3.10 all satisfy (3.2) and (3.3) for t > 0. Hence we can proceed as in the proof of Theorem 3.2 to obtain (3.5) and from here (3.4). This implies in turn that all solution coincide.

Finally the energy estimate follows as in Remarks 3.3 and 3.8, using the regularity of the solution obtained above.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 4. Semigroup of limit solutions in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a global attractor

As a consequence of Theorem 3.7 we have the nonlinear semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$  associated with (1.1) in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ; namely

$$S(t): L^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad S(t)u_0 = u(t; u_0) \text{ for } t \ge 0, \ u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
(4.1)

where  $u(t; u_0)$  is as in Theorem 3.7. In particular we have thus proved Theorem 1.1.

We also have the following.

**Lemma 4.1.** Assume (1.5)-(1.14). Then, i) for any  $t_0 > 0$  and any ball B in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  we have that  $S(t_0)B$  is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , ii) for each t > 0, S(t) leaves  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  invariant and  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$  restricted to  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is a closed semigroup in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Proof:** Part i) is a consequence of estimate iv) in Corollary 3.4 (see Theorem 3.7 iii)-iv)). ii) The invariance is a consequence of part iii) in Theorem 3.7. For the closeness, if  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N) \ni u_{0n} \to u_0$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , t > 0 and  $S(t)u_{0n} \to v$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then by continuity in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $S(t)u_{0n}$  converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  both to  $S(t)u_0$  and to v which yields that  $v = S(t)u_0$ .

We also have the following.

**Lemma 4.2.** For every  $0 < \tau < T < \infty$ , the semigroup S(t) is continuous from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , uniformly on  $[\tau, T]$ .

**Proof:** Consider  $u_{0n} \to u_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $u^n(t) = S(t)u_{0n}$ ,  $u(t) = S(t)u_0$ . From Theorem 3.7 we have that  $V^n(t) = u^n(t) - u(t)$  satisfies the equation  $\frac{dV^n}{dt} + \Delta^2 V^n = (f(x, u^n(t)) - f(x, u(t)))$  in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}((\tau, T), (H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))')$ , and  $V^n \in L^{\rho+1}((\tau, T), H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N))$ . Thus,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \frac{dV^n}{dt}(t) V^n(t) + |\Delta V^n(t)|^2 - (f(x, u^1(t)) - f(x, u^2(t))) V^n(t) \right) = 0 \quad a.e. \ t > 0$$

From (1.14) we then have, for  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left( \frac{dV^{n}}{dt}(t)V^{n}(t) + \varepsilon \|\Delta V^{n}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left( (1-\varepsilon)|\Delta V^{n}(t)|^{2} - L(x)|V^{n}(t)|^{2} \right) \le 0$$

and using Proposition 2.1 we obtain, for some and  $\omega_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(\frac{dV^n}{dt}(t)V^n(t) + \varepsilon \|\Delta V^n(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \omega_\varepsilon \|V^n(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le 0$$

for a.e. t > 0. Hence,

$$\varepsilon \|\Delta V^{n}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq -\omega_{\varepsilon} \|V^{n}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \|\frac{dV^{n}}{dt}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \|V^{n}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \quad a.e. \ t > 0.$$

By part iv) in Theorem 3.7 the right hand side above is bounded above, in  $[\tau, T]$ , by a multiple of  $\|V^n(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}$  which is a continuous function of t, as is the left hand side above.

Therefore, by part i) in Theorem 3.7 we have  $||V^n(t)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0$ , as  $n \to \infty$ , uniformly on  $[\tau, T]$ , and therefore  $||V^n(t)||_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0$ , as  $n \to \infty$ , uniformly on  $[\tau, T]$  as well.

In what follows we show that if solutions of the linear problem (1.16) are asymptotically decaying in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  the semigroup has strong dissipativeness properties. In particular, there exists a global attractor in the sense of [22].

**Lemma 4.3.** Assume (1.5)-(1.14) and suppose that (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0 > 0$ . Then i) there exists a ball in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  absorbing bounded sets in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  under  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$ ; that is, there exists  $R_0 > 0$  such that for any bounded set  $B \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  of initial data of (1.1) and a certain  $T_B \ge 0$  we have

$$||S(t)u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le R_0 \quad for \ all \ t \ge T_B \ and \ u_0 \in B.$$

$$(4.2)$$

ii) there exists a bounded subset  $B_0$  of  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  absorbing bounded subsets of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , that is

 $S(t)B \subset B_0$  for all  $t \ge t_B$  and  $u_0 \in B$ 

whenever B is bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Thus, for each B bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  the positive orbit  $\gamma^+(B) = \bigcup_{t \ge 0} S(t)B$  is eventually bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Proof:** From Theorem 3.7 the solutions satisfy Corollary 3.4 part v) and so we have

$$||u(t)||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le ||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 e^{-\omega t} + c_1,$$

with  $\omega > 0$ , which proves (4.2).

ii) Now Lemma 4.1 and part i) gives part ii). In fact, from i), the ball of radius  $R_0$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $B_{R_0}$ , is absorbing. Thus,  $B_0 = S(1)B_{R_0}$  is bounded and absorbing in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .  $\Box$ 

The next result will imply the asymptotic compactness of the semigroup in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Lemma 4.4.** Assume (1.5)-(1.14) and suppose that (1.17) holds with some  $\omega_0 > 0$ . If B is bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist  $t_0 > 0$  and  $k_0 > 0$  such that

$$\sup_{u_0 \in B} \sup_{t \ge t_0} \|u(t; u_0)\|_{L^2(\{|x| > k_0\})} < \varepsilon$$
(4.3)

$$\sup_{u_0 \in B} \sup_{t \ge t_0} \{ \| u(t; u_0) \|_{L^{\rho+1}(\{|x| > k_0\})}, \| u(t; u_0) \|_{H^2(\{|x| > k_0\})} \} < \varepsilon$$

$$(4.4)$$

Consequently, from each sequence of the form  $\{S(t_n)u_{0n}\}$ , where  $\{u_{0n}\} \subset B$  and  $t_n \to \infty$ , one can choose a subsequence convergent in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -norm.

**Proof:** We fix a smooth  $\theta_0: [0,\infty) \to [0,1]$  such that  $\theta_0(z) = 0$  for  $z \in [0,1]$  and  $\theta_0(z) = 1$ for  $z \ge 2$ . We let  $\theta(z) = \theta_0^4(z)$  for  $z \ge 0$  and define  $\phi_k(x) = \theta(\frac{|x|^2}{k^2})$  for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . We also fix B bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Using the test function  $v = u\phi_k$  we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \phi_k + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \phi_k = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Delta u (u\Delta\phi_k + 2\nabla\phi_k \cdot \nabla u) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u f(x, u)\phi_k.$$
(4.5)

Thanks to Lemma 4.3 ii) and properties of cut-off functions there exists a constant c > 0such that

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Delta u (u \Delta \phi_k + 2\nabla \phi_k \cdot \nabla u) \le \frac{c}{k}, \ t \ge t_B.$$

Since  $\Delta(u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) = \phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\Delta u + 2\nabla u \cdot \nabla(\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) + u\Delta(\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})$ , using Lemma 4.3 ii) we also obtain that for each  $\nu > 0$  there is a certain constant,  $c_{\nu}$ , such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \phi_k = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \Delta(u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) - 2\nabla u \cdot \nabla(\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) - u\Delta(\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) \right)^2 \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (1 - \frac{\nu}{2}) |\Delta(u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})|^2 - \frac{c_\nu}{k}.$$

On the other hand from (1.12) we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} uf(x,u)\phi_{k} \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} C(x)(u\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}})^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} D(x)|u|\phi_{k} - a_{\rho} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u|^{\rho+1}\phi_{k}$$

and hence (4.5) transforms into

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \phi_k + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \phi_k + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \frac{\nu}{2}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta (u \phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})|^2 + a_\rho \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{\rho+1} \phi_k \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} C(x) (u \phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} D(x) |u| \phi_k + \frac{c_\nu}{2k}.$$
(4.6)

We next have  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} D(x) |u| \phi_k \leq \|D\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)} \|u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$  which due to (1.13) and the embedding  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^{s'}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  can be bounded by  $\tilde{c} \| D\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)} (\| \Delta(u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}) \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} + \| u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}).$  Hence we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} D(x) |u| \phi_k \le \frac{\nu}{4} (\|\Delta(u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2) + \frac{\tilde{c}^2}{\nu} \|D\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2.$$
(4.7)

From (4.6)-(4.7) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \phi_k + a_\rho \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{\rho+1} \phi_k + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( (1-\nu) |\Delta (u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})|^2 - 2C(x) (u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}})^2 \right) \\ & \leq \frac{\nu}{4} \| u\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \frac{\tilde{c}^2}{\nu} \| D\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{L^s(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \frac{c_\nu}{2k} \end{aligned}$$

and using Proposition 2.1 with  $\nu > 0$  small enough so that  $\omega(\nu) - \frac{\nu}{2} =: \omega > 0$  we infer that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|u\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}|\Delta u|^{2}\phi_{k} + a_{\rho}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}|u|^{\rho+1}\phi_{k} + \frac{\omega}{2}\|u\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \leq \frac{\tilde{c}^{2}}{\nu}\|D\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{c_{\nu}}{2k}$$

$$(4.8)$$

In particular,  $z_k(t) := \|u(t)\phi_k^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  satisfies the differential inequality  $z'_k(t) + \omega z_k(t) \le c_k$ , where  $\omega > 0$  and  $c_k = \frac{2\tilde{c}^2}{\nu} \left( \int_{\{|x|>k\}} |D|^s \right)^{\frac{2}{s}} + \frac{c_\nu}{k} \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ , which leads to (4.3).

Now in (4.8) for  $t \ge t_0$  and k large enough, using the estimate in Corollary 3.4 part v) (see Theorem 3.7 iv)),

$$\left|\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|u\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2}\right| = \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}u_{t}u\phi_{k}\right| \le \|u_{t}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}\|u\phi_{k}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \le C\varepsilon.$$

Thus, from (4.8), we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 \phi_k + a_\rho \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{\rho+1} \phi_k \le C\varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0$$

and we prove the second estimate in the statement.

For  $\{S(t_n)u_{0n}\}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  we now have

$$||S(t_n)u_{0n} - S(t_m)u_{0m}||_{L^2(\{|x| > k_0\})} \le \varepsilon$$

for all  $n, m \geq N_0$  and some  $k_0, N_0 > 0$ . Since, due to Lemma 4.3 ii), almost all elements of the sequence  $\{S(t_n)u_{0n}\}$  lie in a bounded subset of  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , then using compact embedding  $H^2(\{|x| < k\}) \hookrightarrow L^2(\{|x| < k\})$  there exists a subsequence,  $\{S(t_{n'})u_{0n'}\}$ , which converges in  $L^2(\{|x| < k\})$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence this subsequence is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and the proof is complete.

Now we can finally prove the following.

**Theorem 4.5.** Assume (1.5)–(1.14) and suppose that (1.17) holds for some  $\omega_0$  strictly positive.

Then, the semigroup associated to (1.1) in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  has a global attractor  $\mathbf{A}$ , which is invariant, compact in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and

$$\sup_{b\in B} \inf_{a\in A} \|S(t)b - a\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0 \quad as \quad t \to \infty$$

for each bounded subset B of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . In addition, **A** is compact in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Proof:** From Lemmas 4.3, 4.4 we have that the semigroup is bounded dissipative and asymptotically compact in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Thus there is a global attractor  $\mathbf{A}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [25, 22]) which due to Lemma 4.1 i) is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Due to Lemma 4.2  $\mathbf{A} = S(1)\mathbf{A}$  is also compact in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Now we prove that the attractor  $\mathbf{A}$  attracts bounded subsets of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with respect to the Hausdorff semi-distance in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Indeed, if this is not the case, then there is a sequence of the form  $\{S(t_n)u_{0n}\}$ , where  $\{u_{0n}\}$  is bounded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $t_n \to \infty$  and  $\{S(t_n)u_{0n}\}$  is separated from  $\mathbf{A}$  in the topology of  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Since  $\mathbf{A}$  is a global attractor in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , choosing a subsequence if necessary, we have that  $\{S(t_n-1)u_{0n}\}$  converges to a certain  $\psi \in \mathbf{A}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . But  $\mathbf{A} \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  so that  $\psi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and by continuity of S(t) from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ into  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  in Lemma 4.2, we conclude that  $\mathbf{A} \ni S(1)\psi = \lim_{n\to\infty} S(1)S(t_n-1)u_{0n} =$  $\lim_{n\to\infty} S(t_n)u_{0n}$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , which is absurd.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 4.6.** If we have a bound in  $H^3(\mathbb{R}^N)$  as in Remark 3.5 and if  $\rho < \frac{N+6}{N-6}$ , then due to (4.4) and the compact embedding  $H^3(B(r)) \hookrightarrow L^{\rho+1}(B(r))$  for balls  $B(r) \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  of radius r > 0, the semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$  would be asymptotically compact in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . This holds in particular for any  $\rho > 1$  if  $N \le 6$ .

In such a case, since  $\{S(t) : t \ge 0\}$  is also a closed, bounded dissipative semigroup in the latter space (see Lemmas 4.1, 4.3), there would exist then a global attractor in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , see [28, 11], and it would coincide with the attractor **A** in Theorem 4.5. In particular, **A** in Theorem 4.5 would be then compact in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and would attract bounded subsets of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  with respect to the Hausdorff semidistance in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

**Remark 4.7.** Also, from Theorem 4.5 observe that in the critical case  $\rho = \rho_c = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$ ,  $(N \geq 5)$ , taking initial data in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , Proposition 3.11 applies and the energy in (1.3) is a Lyapunov function for the semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \geq 0\}$  in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  (see [22, pp. 49-50]); that is,

- (i)  $E: H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous and bounded below,
- (ii)  $E(u_0) \to \infty \text{ as } ||u_0||_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to \infty,$
- (iii)  $E(S(t)u_0)$  is nonincreasing in t for each  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,
- (iv) if  $u_0$  is such that  $S(t)u_0$  is defined for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $E(S(t)u_0) = E(u_0)$  for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ then  $u_0$  is an equilibrium point.

In particular the attractor  $\mathbf{A}$  in Theorem 4.5 coincides in this case with the unstable set of the set  $\mathcal{E}$  of equilibria; that is  $\mathbf{A} = \mathcal{W}^u(\mathcal{E})$ . Also, the semigroup S(t) is a gradient system, see Definition 3.8.1 in [22].

Note that if  $\rho > \rho_c$  the above argument does not apply. However we will obtain below some convergence of solutions to stationary solutions (see Theorem 4.8 below).

We now show that each solution converge, forwards in time, to the set of equilibria.

**Theorem 4.8.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.5 the set of equilibria  $\mathcal{E}$  of the semigroup  $\{S(t) : t \geq 0\}$  is nonempty and attracts in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  points of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Namely, for each  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and any sequence  $t_n \to \infty$ , there is a subsequence  $\{t_{n_k}\}$  and an equilibrium  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}$ , such that

$$S(t_{n_k})u_0 \to \varphi \text{ in } H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$
 (4.9)

**Proof:** Suppose that  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $t_n \to \infty$  and let  $u = S(t)u_0$ . Following [6, §3.5] (see also [14]) it suffices to find an auxiliary sequence  $\{\tilde{t}_n\}$  such that  $\tilde{t}_n \in [t_n - a, t_n - b]$  for some

fixed a, b > 0 and  $\{u(\tilde{t}_n)\}$  has a subsequence convergent in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  to equilibrium. If this is the case, letting  $\tau_n := t_n - \tilde{t}_n \in [a, b]$  and using that  $S(t_n)u_0 = S(\tau_n)S(\tilde{t}_n)u_0$ , we can assume that  $\{\tau_n\}$  has a convergent subsequence. Then using Lemma 4.2 we obtain (4.9).

From estimate v) in Corollary 3.4, we have

$$\int_{\tau}^{\infty} \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \le M_4(R,\tau), \tag{4.10}$$

while u satisfies (1.1) as in Theorem 3.7, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \mathcal{I}_u$  and  $\mathcal{I}_u$  has zero Lebesgue measure.

From (4.10), choosing a subsequence if necessary, we have that  $\int_{t_n-1}^{t_n-\frac{1}{2}} \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \to 0$ . Consequently for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a certain  $\tilde{t}_n \in [t_n - 1, t_n - \frac{1}{2}]$ ,  $\tilde{t}_n \notin \mathcal{I}_u$  such that  $\|u_t(\tilde{t}_n)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \leq 4 \int_{t_n-1}^{t_n-\frac{1}{2}} \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$  as otherwise, integrating both sides in the set  $[t_n-1, t_n-\frac{1}{2}]$  we get the contradiction. Hence,

$$\|u_t(\tilde{t}_n)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$

$$(4.11)$$

Hence, choosing a subsequence if necessary we can assume that for some  $\varphi \in \mathbf{A} \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

$$u(\tilde{t}_n) \to \varphi$$
 strongly in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $u(\tilde{t}_n; x) \to \varphi(x)$  for a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . (4.12)

Also, since  $\{u(\tilde{t}_n)\}$  is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , see Lemma 4.3 ii), we have that  $\{m(\cdot)u(\tilde{t}_n)\}$ ,  $\{f_{01}(\cdot, u(\tilde{t}_n)\}$  and  $\{f_{02}(\cdot, u(\tilde{t}_n)\}\)$  are bounded in  $H^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and in  $L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  respectively (see Proposition 2.2 and (2.11)). Taking again a subsequence if necessary, we can assume that

$$u(\tilde{t}_n) \to \chi_0 \quad \text{weakly in } H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
  

$$f_{01}(\cdot, u(\tilde{t}_n)) \to \chi_1 \quad \text{weakly in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
  

$$f_{02}(\cdot, u(\tilde{t}_n)) \to \chi_2 \quad \text{weakly in } L^{\frac{\rho+1}{\rho}}(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
  

$$\Delta u(\tilde{t}_n) \to \chi_3 \quad \text{weakly in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^N),$$
  

$$m(\cdot)u(\tilde{t}_n) \to \chi_4 \quad \text{weakly in } H^{-2}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
  
(4.13)

Now, using (4.12) and the continuity of  $f_{01}, f_{02}$ , and we get  $f_{0j}(u(\tilde{t}_n; x)) \to f_{0j}(\varphi(x))$  a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , for j = 1, 2. Thus, we actually have  $\chi_0 = \varphi$ ,  $\chi_1 = f_{01}(\cdot, \varphi)$  and  $\chi_2 = f_{02}(\cdot, \varphi)$ . Using weak continuity property of linear operators (see [8, Theorem III.9]) we also have  $\chi_3 = \Delta \varphi$  and  $\chi_4 = m(\cdot)\varphi$ .

Since, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(\frac{du}{dt}(\tilde{t}_n)v + \Delta u(\tilde{t}_n)\Delta v - gv - m(x)u(\tilde{t}_n)v - f_{01}(x,u(\tilde{t}_n))v - f_{02}(x,u(\tilde{t}_n))v\right) = 0$$

for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $v \in H^2(\Omega) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , passing to the limit as  $n \to \infty$  we obtain via (4.11), (4.13) that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left( \Delta \varphi \Delta v - gv - m(x)\varphi v - f_{01}(x,\varphi)v - f_{02}(x,\varphi)v \right) = 0 \text{ for any } v \in H^2(\Omega) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

Hence  $\varphi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is an equilibrium of (1.1).

#### 5. FINITE TIME EXISTENCE AND ILL POSED PROBLEMS

In this section we consider the Cauchy problem (1.18) with  $\rho > 1$ , that is

$$\begin{cases} u_t + \Delta^2 u = u |u|^{\rho - 1}, & t > 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

for which the energy is

$$E(u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u|^2 - \frac{1}{\rho+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u|^{\rho+1}$$
(5.2)

(see (1.19)).

5.1. Finite time existence. In what follows, using concavity method (see [27]), we prove in Theorem 5.2 that suitably smooth solutions of (5.1) corresponding to initial data with negative energy cease to exist in a finite time.

Given  $\rho > 1$ , let  $u_0$  be a smooth enough function. Then we say that u(x,t) is a local finite energy solution of (5.1) if it is defined for some  $0 \le t < T \le \infty$  and for each t,  $u(t) \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $u_t(t) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , satisfies the equation in (5.1) and  $t \mapsto E(u(t))$ is absolutely continuous.

**Remark 5.1.** If  $N \leq 8$ , given  $\rho > 1$ , the nonlinear term f in (1.1) is Lipschitz continuous map from  $H^{4\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for  $\alpha < 1$  close enough to 1. Using then the results in [23, Chapter 3] (see also [33, Theorem I.1]) we obtain that for each  $u_0 \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^N)$  there exists a function

$$u \in C([0, \tau_{u_0}), H^4(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C^1([0, \tau_{u_0}), L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C^1((0, \tau_{u_0}), H^{4\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^N))$$

satisfying in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$  both relations in (5.1) as long as it exists. In particular, it is a local finite energy solution.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let  $\rho > 1$  and assume  $u_0$  is a smooth enough initial data such that

$$E(u_0) < 0.$$

Assume also that u(x,t) is a local finite energy solution of (5.1).

Then u ceases to exist in a finite time.

**Proof:** Observe that, since the local solution is smooth enough we have,

$$\frac{d}{dt}(E(u)) = -\|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2,$$

which implies

$$E(u(t)) = -\int_0^t \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + E(u_0)$$
 and  $E(u(t)) \le E(u_0).$ 

On the other hand, from the equation in (5.1) we infer that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 = -\|\Delta u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 + \|u\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)}^{\rho+1}$$

and using the energy (5.2) we get for  $\alpha > 0$ 

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{2} - 1\right)\|\Delta u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{\rho + 1}\right)\|u\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{\rho+1} - \alpha E(u).$$
(5.3)

We now choose

$$\alpha \in (2, \rho + 1)$$

so that the coefficients in the parenthesis in (5.3) are positive; namely

$$\frac{\alpha}{2} - 1 > 0$$
 and  $1 - \frac{\alpha}{\rho + 1} > 0$ 

in which case

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \ge -\alpha E(u(t)) = \alpha \int_{0}^{t} \|u_{t}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} - \alpha E(u_{0}) \ge -\alpha E(u_{0}).$$
(5.4)

In particular, if  $E(u_0) < 0$  then

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 \ge 2\alpha \int_0^t \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2 > 0$$
(5.5)

and (5.4) yields

$$\|u(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} \ge -2\alpha E(u_{0})t + \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2} =: R(t)$$
(5.6)

and the right hand side  $R(t) \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Now we define

$$M(t) = \int_0^t \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2$$

and observe that (5.5) reads

$$\frac{d^2 M}{dt^2}(t) \ge 2\alpha \int_0^t \|u_t\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)}^2.$$

Also, we have

$$M(t)\frac{d^{2}M}{dt^{2}}(t) \geq 2\alpha \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} uu_{t}\right)^{2} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{d}{dt} (\|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}^{2})\right)^{2} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\frac{dM}{dt}(t) - \frac{dM}{dt}(0)\right)^{2}$$
 ad hence

an

$$M(t)\frac{d^2M}{dt^2}(t) > \left(\frac{\alpha}{2} - \varepsilon\right) \left(\frac{dM}{dt}(t)\right)^2,\tag{5.7}$$

provided that

$$\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{\alpha}{2})$$
 and  $\frac{dM}{dt}(t) > \frac{\alpha}{2\varepsilon} \left(1 + \sqrt{1 + \frac{2\varepsilon}{\alpha}}\right) \frac{dM}{dt}(0).$  (5.8)

Assume the local finite energy solution, u, exists for all t > 0. Then (5.6) implies that  $M(t) \to \infty$  and  $\frac{dM}{dt}(t) \to \infty$  as  $t \to \infty$ . In particular (5.8) holds for  $t \ge t_0$ . But now (5.7) implies that  $0 \le M^{\beta}(t)$  is concave with  $\beta = 1 + \varepsilon - \frac{\alpha}{2} < 0$ , provided  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{\alpha}{2} - 1$ . Since  $M^{\beta}(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ , this is a contradiction. 

**Remark 5.3.** Note that, since  $\rho > 1$ , for any nontrivial  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  examining the energy along the ray of  $u_0$ ,

$$E(su_0) = \frac{|s|^2}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\Delta u_0|^2 - \frac{|s|^{\rho+1}}{\rho+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |u_0|^{\rho+1}$$

we have that E(0) = 0, while  $E(su_0) > 0$  for  $s \in (0, s_0)$  and  $E(su_0) < 0$  for  $s > s_0$ , where  $s_0$ depends on  $u_0$ .

5.2. Ill posed supercritical problems. In this section we give evidence that if  $\rho$  is supercritical then (5.1) is ill posed.

For this we start with the following simple lemma.

**Lemma 5.4.** Assume  $\rho > 1$  and u(x,t) is a smooth solution of (5.1) for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and 0 < t < T.

Then for  $\lambda > 0$  and

$$\alpha = \frac{4}{\rho - 1},$$

the rescaled function

$$u_{\lambda}(t,x) = \lambda^{\alpha} u(\lambda^4 t, \lambda x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad 0 < t < \frac{T}{\lambda^4}$$
(5.9)

is also a solution of (5.1).

**Proof:** Observe that  $u_{\lambda}$  satisfies

$$(u_{\lambda})_t + \Delta^2 u_{\lambda} = \lambda^{\alpha+4} (u_t + \Delta^2 u) = \lambda^{\alpha+4-\alpha\rho} |u_{\lambda}|^{\rho-1} u_{\lambda}$$

and the rest is immediate since  $\alpha + 4 - \alpha \rho = 0$ .

Then we have the following ill–possedness result.

Theorem 5.5. Assume

$$o > \frac{N+4}{N-4}$$

and assume  $u_0$  is a smooth enough initial data such that

 $E(u_0) < 0$ 

and there exists a local finite energy solution of (5.1).

Then (5.1) is ill posed in the sense of Hadamard in the class of finite energy solutions. More precisely there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

$$u_0^n \to 0$$
 in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

with negative energy,  $E(u_0^n) < 0$ , and the corresponding finite energy solutions have existence times

 $T_n \to 0.$ 

If

$$o = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$$

then (5.1) is not uniformly well posed in the class of finite energy solutions. More precisely there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

$$u_0^n$$
 is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

with negative energy,  $E(u_0^n) < 0$ , and the corresponding finite energy solutions have existence times

$$T_n \to 0.$$

**Proof:** By Theorem 5.2 the local finite energy solution is only defined for  $0 < t < T < \infty$ . Consider then the rescaled solution  $u_{\lambda}(x,t)$  as in Lemma 5.4, which has initial data

$$u_{\lambda}(0) = \lambda^{\alpha} u_0(\lambda x), \quad \alpha = \frac{4}{\rho - 1}.$$

Now, as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , the solution  $u_{\lambda}$  is defined for  $0 < t < \frac{T}{\lambda^4} \to 0$ , while the initial data satisfies

$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{\alpha - \frac{N}{2}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})},$$
$$|\Delta u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{2 + \alpha - \frac{N}{2}} \|\Delta u_{0}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N})},$$
$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{\alpha - \frac{N}{\rho+1}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}$$

and

$$E(u_{\lambda}(0)) = \frac{\lambda^{2(\alpha+2-\frac{N}{2})}}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\Delta u_{0}|^{2} - \frac{\lambda^{\alpha(\rho+1)-N}}{\rho+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u_{0}|^{\rho+1} = \lambda^{\alpha(\rho+1)-N} E(u_{0}) < 0,$$

because

$$2(\alpha + 2 - \frac{N}{2}) = \alpha(\rho + 1) - N.$$

Now when  $\rho > \frac{N+4}{N-4}$  then

$$2 + \alpha - \frac{N}{2} < 0$$
,  $\alpha - \frac{N}{\rho + 1} < 0$  and  $\alpha(\rho + 1) - N < 0$ 

hence

$$u_{\lambda}(0) \to 0$$
 in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

and we get the result.

On the other hand, if  $\rho = \frac{N+4}{N-4}$ 

$$2 + \alpha - \frac{N}{2} = 0$$
, and  $\alpha(\rho + 1) - N = 0$ 

hence

$$u_{\lambda}(0)$$
 is bounded in  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ 

and we get the result.

Concerning some other classes of solutions, we have the following. Following [12] the critical exponent in  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , for  $1 < q < \infty$ , is

$$\rho_c = 1 + \frac{4q}{N},$$

while the critical exponent in  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  is

$$\rho_c = 1 + \frac{4q}{N - 2q}.$$

That means that if  $\rho \leq \rho_c$  and  $u_0 \in X$ , where  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  or  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  then there exists a suitable local solution of (5.1).

So, given  $\rho > 1$  and  $u_0 \in X$ , we say u(x, t) is a local X solution of (5.1) if it is defined for some  $0 \le t < T \le \infty$ ,  $u(t) \in X$  and satisfies the equation in (5.1).

**Remark 5.6.** For example, if  $m \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ ,  $N \leq 7$  and  $u_0 \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , the solution mentioned in Remark 5.1 is an  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  solution for  $2 \leq q < \infty$ . If moreover  $2 \leq q \leq \frac{2N}{N-4}$  then it is an  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  solution.

**Theorem 5.7.** Let X be either  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  or  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ .

Assume that  $\rho > \rho_c(X)$  and there exists  $u_0 \in X$  and a local X solution that ceases to exist in a finite time T.

Then (5.1) is ill posed in the sense of Hadamard in the class of X solutions. More precisely there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

 $u_0^n \to 0$  in X

and the corresponding local X solutions have existence times

 $T_n \to 0.$ 

If  $\rho = \rho_c(X)$  there exists a sequence of smooth functions  $u_0^n$  such that

 $u_0^n$  is bounded in X

and the corresponding local X solutions have existence times

$$T_n \to 0$$

**Proof:** With the solution u(x, t) in the statement, consider then the rescaled solution  $u_{\lambda}(x, t)$  as in Lemma 5.4, which has initial data

$$u_{\lambda}(0) = \lambda^{\alpha} u_0(\lambda x), \quad \alpha = \frac{4}{\rho - 1}.$$

Now, as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , the solution  $u_{\lambda}$  is defined for  $0 < t < \frac{T}{\lambda^4} \to 0$ , while the initial data satisfies

$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{\alpha - \frac{N}{q}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}$$

Assume first  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Then, when  $\rho > \rho_c$  we have

$$\alpha - \frac{N}{q} < 0$$

and then

$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{\alpha - \frac{N}{q}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \to 0$$

and we get the result.

When  $\rho = \rho_c$  we have  $\alpha - \frac{N}{q} = 0$  and then

$$||u_{\lambda}(0)||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = ||u_{0}||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}$$

is bounded and we get the result.

Assume now that  $X = H_q^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We have now that

$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{\alpha - \frac{N}{q}} \|u_{0}\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})},$$
$$\|\Delta u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} = \lambda^{2 + \alpha - \frac{N}{q}} \|\Delta u_{0}\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}.$$

Now when  $\rho > \rho_c$ 

$$\alpha + 2 - \frac{N}{q} < 0$$

and then

$$\|u_{\lambda}(0)\|_{H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)} \leq \lambda^{\alpha+2-\frac{N}{q}} \|u_0\|_{H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \lambda \to \infty.$$
29

When  $\rho = \rho_c$  we have  $\alpha + 2 - \frac{N}{q} = 0$  and then

 $||u_{\lambda}(0)||_{H^{2}_{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \leq ||u_{0}||_{H^{2}_{q}(\mathbb{R}^{N})}$ 

is bounded and we get the result.

**Remark 5.8.** Note that similar arguments have been used for second order problems in [5]. In such a case more complete results have been given due again to the maximum principle.

**Remark 5.9.** It remains an open problem if there exists an  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -solution or an  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  solution that actually ceases to exist in finite time.

From Proposition 3.2 in [13] we know that if for a solution of (5.1), we have a bound in finite time in  $L^{s_0}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for some  $s_0 > 1$ , then we obtain bounds in  $H^4_s(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for all  $s \ge s_0$ . In particular, the solution exists up to that time. Also from Gronwall's type argument, a bound in finite time in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  implies a bound in  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , if  $u_0 \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , and hence the solution exists up to that time.

Therefore, if an  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ -solution (or an  $H^2_q(\mathbb{R}^N)$  solution) ceases to exist in finite time then for all s > 1 the norm in  $L^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N)$  becomes unbounded in finite time.

## 6. FINAL REMARKS

As stressed in the Introduction a main difference between the solutions of the second order problem (1.1) and the second order one (1.2) is that for supercritical good signed nonlinear terms the solutions of the latter become bounded in space, due to comparison arguments.

As a consequence that for solutions of (1.1) we can not find such bound, we have not been able to obtain results one would obtain for (1.2).

For example, in Theorems 3.2 and 3.7 no further smoothing than  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  was obtained for the solutions. Also, except for the critical case, see Proposition 3.11, we could not derive in general the energy of the solutions, see Remark 3.8.

On the other had, concerning the asymptotic behavior of solutions, we could not find asymptotic compactness in  $L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  despite the tail estimates in Lemma 4.4. Only  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ asymptotic compactness was achieved. In particular we could not prove the attractor in Theorem 4.5 attracts in  $L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Analogously in Theorem 4.8 the convergence to equilibria could not be proved in  $L^{\rho+1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  either.

All these stem from the fact that, in the supercritical regime, we can not control the nonlinear term with the linear diffusion one.

#### References

- N. D. Alikakos, An application of the invariance principle to reaction-diffusion equations, J. Diff. Equations 33 (1979), 201-225.
- [2] J. M. Arrieta, A. N. Carvalho, Abstract parabolic problems with critical nonlinearities and applications to Navier-Stokes and heat equations, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 352, 285-310 (2000).
- [3] J. M. Arrieta, J. W. Cholewa, T. Dlotko, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, Asymptotic behavior and attractors for reaction diffusion equations in unbounded domains, *Nonlinear Analysis TMA* 56, 515-554 (2004).
- [4] J. M. Arrieta, J. W. Cholewa, T. Dlotko, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, Linear parabolic equations in locally uniform spaces, *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 14, 253-294 (2004).
- [5] J.M. Arrieta, A.Rodríguez-Bernal, Non well posedness of parabolic equations with supercritical nonlinearities, *Comm. Contemporary Math.* 6, 733-764 (2004).
- [6] A. V. Babin, M. I. Vishik, Attractors of Evolution Equations, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1992.
- [7] J.M. Ball, Strongly continuous semigroups, weak solutions and the variation of constants formula, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 63 (1977) 370373.

- [8] H. Brezis, Analyse fonctionelle Théorie et applications, Masson, Paris, 1987.
- [9] G. Caristi, E. Mitidieri, Existence and nonexistence of global solutions of higher-order parabolic problems with slow decay initial data, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 279 (2003) 710-722.
- [10] J. W. Cholewa, T. Dlotko, Global Attractors in Abstract Parabolic Problems, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [11] J. W. Cholewa, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, Extremal equilibria for monotone semigroups in ordered spaces with application to evolutionary equations, J. Differential Equations 249 (2010), 485-525.
- [12] J. W. Cholewa, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, Linear and semilinear higher order parabolic equations in R<sup>N</sup>, Nonlinear Analysis 75 (2012) 194–210.
- [13] J. W. Cholewa, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, Dissipative mechanism of a semilinear higher order parabolic equation in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , Nonlinear Analysis 75 (2012) 3510–3530.
- [14] J. W. Cholewa, A. Rodriguez-Bernal, On the Cahn-Hilliard equation in H<sup>1</sup>(R<sup>N</sup>), J. Differential Equations 253 (2012), 3678-3726.
- [15] Yu. V. Egorov, V. A. Galaktionov, V. A. Kondratiev, S. I. Pohozaev. Global solutions of higher-order semilinear parabolic equations in the supercritical range, *Adv. Differential Equations*, 9, 1009–1038 (2004).
- [16] Yu. V. Egorov, V.A. Galaktionov, V.A. Kondratiev, S.I. Pohozaev, On the necessary conditions of global existence to a quasilinear inequality in the half-space, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 330, 93-98 (2000).
- [17] Yu.V. Egorov, V.A. Galaktionov, V.A. Kondratiev, S.I. Pohozaev, On the asymptotics of global solutions of higher-order semilinear parabolic equations in the supercritical range, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 335, 805-810 (2002)
- [18] A. Ferrero, F. Gazzola, H.C. Grunau, Decay and eventual local positivity for biharmonic parabolic equations, *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 21, 1129–1157 (2008).
- [19] V.A. Galaktionov, P.J. Harwin, Non-uniqueness and global similarity solutions for a higher-order semilinear parabolic equation, *Nonlinearity* 18, 717-746 (2005).
- [20] V.A. Galaktionov, J.F. Williams, On very singular similarity solutions of a higher-order semilinear parabolic equation, *Nonlinearity* 17, 1075-1099 (2004).
- [21] F. Gazzola, On the moments of solutions to linear parabolic equations involving the biharmonic operator, Disc. Cont. Dyn. Syst. A 33, 2013, 3583-3597.
- [22] J. K. Hale, Asymptotic Behavior of Dissipative Systems, AMS, Providence, R. I., 1988.
- [23] D. Henry, Geometric Theory of Semilinear Parabolic Equations, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 840, Springer, Berlin, 1981.
- [24] O. Kavian, Introduction a la theorie des points critiques, Mathematiques & Applicatons 13, Springer Verlag 1993.
- [25] O. A. Ladyženskaya, Attractors for Semigroups and Evolution Equations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [26] O. A. Ladyženskaja, V. A. Solonnikov, N. N. Ural'ceva, Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, AMS, Providence, RI, 1967.
- [27] H. A. Levine, L. E. Payne, Nonexistence theorems for the heat equation with nonlinear boundary conditions and for the porous medium equation backward in time, J. Differential Equations 16, 319– 334 (1974).
- [28] V. Pata, S. Zelik, A result on the existence of global attractors for semigroups of closed operators, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 6, 481-486 (2007).
- [29] A. Pazy, Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations, Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- [30] J. C. Robinson, Infinite-dimensional dynamical systems. An introduction to dissipative parabolic PDEs and the theory of global attractors, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001.
- [31] W. A. Strauss, On continuity of functions with values in various Banach spaces, Pacific Journal of Mathematics 19, 543-551 (1966).
- [32] R. Temam, Infinite-Dimensional Dynamical Systems in Mechanics and Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York 1988.
- [33] W. von Wahl, Global solutions to evolution equations of parabolic type, in: Differential Equations in Banach Spaces, Proceedings, 1985 (Eds. A. Favini, E. Obrecht), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986, 254-266.

#### PREPUBLICACIONES DEL DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICA APLICADA UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID MA-UCM 2012

- 1. ON THE CAHN-HILLIARD EQUATION IN H<sup>1</sup>(R<sup>N</sup>), J. Cholewa and A. Rodríguez Bernal
- 2. GENERALIZED ENTHALPY MODEL OF A HIGH PRESSURE SHIFT FREEZING PROCESS, N. A. S. Smith, S. S. L. Peppin and A. M. Ramos
- 3. 2D AND 3D MODELING AND OPTIMIZATION FOR THE DESIGN OF A FAST HYDRODYNAMIC FOCUSING MICROFLUIDIC MIXER, B. Ivorra, J. L. Redondo, J. G. Santiago, P.M. Ortigosa and A. M. Ramos
- 4. SMOOTHING AND PERTURBATION FOR SOME FOURTH ORDER LINEAR PARABOLIC EQUATIONS IN R^N, C. Quesada and A. Rodríguez-Bernal
- 5. NONLINEAR BALANCE AND ASYMPTOTIC BEHAVIOR OF SUPERCRITICAL REACTION-DIFFUSION EQUATIONS WITH NONLINEAR BOUNDARY CONDITIONS, A. Rodríguez-Bernal and A. Vidal-López
- 6. NAVIGATION IN TIME-EVOLVING ENVIRONMENTS BASED ON COMPACT INTERNAL REPRESENTATION: EXPERIMENTAL MODEL, J. A. Villacorta-Atienza and V.A. Makarov
- 7. ARBITRAGE CONDITIONS WITH NO SHORT SELLING, G. E. Oleaga
- 8. THEORY OF INTERMITTENCY APPLIED TO CLASSICAL PATHOLOGICAL CASES, E. del Rio, S. Elaskar, and V. A. Makarov
- 9. ANALYSIS AND SIMPLIFICATION OF A MATHEMATICAL MODEL FOR HIGH-PRESSURE FOOD PROCESSES, N. A. S. Smith, S. L. Mitchell and A. M. Ramos
- 10. THE INFLUENCE OF SOURCES TERMS ON THE BOUNDARY BEHAVIOR OF THE LARGE SOLUTIONS OF QUASILINEAR ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS. THE POWER LIKE CASE, S.Alarcón, G.Díaz and J.M.Rey
- 11. SUSTAINED INCREASE OF SPONTANEOUS INPUT AND SPIKE TRANSFER IN THE CA3-CA1 PATHWAY FOLLOWING LONG TERM POTENTIATION IN VIVO, O. Herreras, V. Makarov and A. Fernández- Ruiz
- 12. ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS IN WEIGHTED BESOV SPACES ON ASYMPTOTICALLY FLAT RIEMANNIAN MANIFOLDS, U. Brauer and L. Karp
- 13. A NUMERICAL METHOD TO SOLVE A DUOPOLISTIC DIFFERENTIAL GAME IN A CLOSED-LOOP EQUILIBRIUM, J. H. de la Cruz, B.Ivorra and A. M. Ramos
- 14. EVALUATION OF THE RISK OF CLASSICAL SWINE FEVER SPREAD IN BULGARIA BY USING THE EPIDEMIOLOGICAL MODEL BE-FAST, B. Martínez-López. B.Ivorra, A. M. Ramos, E. Fernández, T. Alexandrov and J.M. Sánchez-Vizcaíno
- 15. WAVE-PROCESSING OF LONG-SCALE INFORMATION IN NEURONAL CHAINS, J. A. Villacorta-Atienza and V. A. Makarov
- 16. A NOTE ON THE EXISTENCE OF GLOBAL SOLUTIONS FOR REACTION-DIFFUSION EQUATIONS WITH ALMOST-MONOTONIC NONLINEARITIES, A. Rodríguez-Bernal and A. Vidal-López

#### PREPUBLICACIONES DEL DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICA APLICADA UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID MA-UCM 2013

- 1. THIN DOMAINS WITH DOUBLY OSCILLATORY BOUNDARY, J.M. Arrieta and M Villanueva-Pesqueira
- 2. ESTIMATES ON THE DISTANCE OF INERTIAL MANIFOLDS, J.M. Arrieta and E. Santamaría
- 3. A PRIORI BOUNDS FOR POSITIVE SOLUTIONS OF SUBCRITICAL ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS, A. Castro and R. Pardo
- 4. EVALUATION OF THE DIFFERENCES OF PROCESS VARIABLES IN VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL CONFIGURATIONS OF HIGH PRESSURE THERMAL (HPT) PROCESSING SYSTEMS THROUGH NUMERICAL MODELLING, N. A. S. Smith, K. Knoerzer and A. M. Ramos
- 5. MATHEMATICAL MODELLING OF THE GROWTH AND COARSENING OF ICE PARTICLES IN THE CONTEXT OF HIGH PRESSURE SHIFT FREEZING PROCESSES, N. A. S. Smith, V. M. Burlakov and A. M. Ramos
- 6. UNIQUENESS RESULTS FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF A TIME-DEPENDENT DIFFUSION COEFFICIENT, A .Fraguela, J. A. Infante, A. M. Ramos and J. M. Rey
- 7. ON THE FREE BOUNDARY ASSOCIATED TO THE STATIONARY MONGE–AMPÈRE OPERATOR ON THE SET OF NON STRICTLY CONVEX FUNCTIONS, G. Díaz and J.I. Díaz
- 8. ON THE WELL-POSEDNESS OF A MATHEMATICAL MODEL FOR LITHIUM-ION BATTERIES, A. M. Ramos
- 9. CRITICAL AND SUPERCRITICAL HIGHER ORDER PARABOLIC PROBLEMS IN R<sup>^</sup>N, J. W. Cholewa and A. Rodriguez-Bernal